
CITY OF HANOVER 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

DECEMBER 22, 2021 
OFFICIAL MINUTES 

Call to Order 
Stan Kolasa called the December 22, 2021, Planning Commission Meeting to order at 7:00 pm in person.  
Members present were Stan Kolasa, Jim Schendel, Dean Kuitunen, Mike Christenson, and Gretchen 
Barrett.  Also present City Planner Cindy Nash, City Engineer Nick Preisler, Council Liaison Jim Zajicek, 
and Administrative Assistant Amy Biren.  Guests were present. 

Approval of the Agenda 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the agenda, seconded by Kuitunen. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

Approval of Minutes from the November 22, 2021, Regular Meeting 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the November 22, 2021, minutes, seconded by Kuitunen. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

Approval of Minutes from the December 15, 2021, Workshop Meeting 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the December 15, 2021, minutes, seconded by Kuitunen. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

Citizen’s Forum 
None 

Public Hearing 
Amendments to the Zoning Ordinance Related to Parking 

Kolasa closed the Planning Commission meeting at 7:02 pm and opened the Public Hearing. 

Nash reviewed the changes discussed at the last two meetings related to parking and directed the Board to 
the redlined version of the ordinance.  The major changes included changing space calculations for 
restaurants and bars from seats to gross square footage, proof of parking, and two options for supplying off-
site parking in the B1 District. 

Jodi Tappe, River Inn, asked for clarification regarding the calculations for determining the parking spaces 
needed for the River Inn as she feels that the proposed ordinance would not be beneficial to the River Inn 
and would require more spaces than currently calculated. 

Nash projected the chart from the memo dated November 18, 2021, that was included in the November 22, 
2021, Planning Commission packet, on the screens to show how the calculations were made for the 
expansion, using both seating calculations as well as the proposed gross square footage.  Nash stated that 
using the occupancy loads provided by the River Inn’s architect included only the main restaurant building 
and the formal outdoor dining and waiting areas. It did not include the apartments, second building or the 
non-formal seating area that is currently being used under the pandemic patio agreement.  Using the current 
ordinance of 2.5 seats per seats, the spaces required totaled 93.6.  Nash pointed out again that using seats 
for parking calculations is variable as seats can be moved or added.  Using the proposed gross square 
footage calculations, and including the non-formal area as well as the second building and apartments, the 
spaces required would be 143.38.  Nash stated that if the missing items were included in the calculation of 
the present ordinance, it would be comparable to the proposed ordinance calculations. 



Barrett confirmed that the current calculations did not include the patio area being used.  Nash said correct 
and restated that by using gross square footage, the number of seats and their location would not matter.  
Kolasa gave the example if using the gross square footage calculations, Jodi would be able to purchase 
more tables and chairs and not be worried about it affecting her parking calculations. 
 
Kuitunen reminded the Board that due diligence has been done by the Board looking at other ordinances 
and viewing what other governmental entities in neighboring area have done for parking calculations.  He 
also mentioned that SAC and WAC is also calculated using gross square footage.  By removing the variable 
of seat calculations, it will be similar to other cities.  Nash confirmed this. 
 
Tappe said that she understands the reasoning behind the proposed changes.  She said that they have always 
had a waiting area.  Tappe restated that she believes that the proposed calculations are not beneficial to the 
River Inn.  She also asked how to get information without having to come to a meeting.  Nash said that she 
is always welcome to call her or City Administrator Jennifer Nash. 
 
Kolasa closed the Public Hearing at 7:15 pm and re-opened the Planning Commission meeting. 
 
Kolas asked Nash what was needed from the Board.  Nash replied that the Board could make the 
recommendation to forward the ordinance to the Council for approval or they could table it.  Kolasa asked 
if the Council would do a Public Hearing as well.  Nash replied no, they would not. 
 
Christenson said that the Board has discussed parking thoroughly and thought that a recommendation could 
be made. 
 
MOTION by Christenson to move the redlined version of the ordinance forward for Council’s approval 
with the changes outlined, seconded by Barrett. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Unfinished Business 
 River Inn Variances and Site Plan at 11220 River Road NE 
 
Nash reviewed the variances being requested by the River Inn.  The first variance is a reduction in the 
number of parking spaces calculated.  The second variance is to reduce the number of parking spaces 
currently being provided on-site. 
 
Nash directed the Board back to the charts from the November 18, 2021, memo for the pre-Covid seating 
calculations and the aerial view of the 32-33 spaces being used.  Using the plans proposed for the expansion, 
Nash used the architect’s occupancy load instead of the 152 seats shown in the chart.  By using the figure 
of 116 seats, it was in favor of the applicant. 
 
Nash moved to the site plan which showed the proposed parking spaces.  She pointed out the motorcycle 
and vehicle parking as well as the area north of the second building which would be used for activities and 
where patrons could enjoy beverages.  The activity area is considered to be a non-formal seating area as 
there are not tables and chairs.  This area was not included in the calculations as an occupancy load was not 
included and it is difficult to determine occupancy when people are not in seats.  The second building is 
currently used for storage, but is proposed to have pizza available for outside patrons.  Referring back to 
the chart previously discussed, Nash showed how the parking spaces were calculated using gross square 
footage. 
 
The second variance is for a reduction in the number of parking spaces already provided.  There could be 
three additional spaced added if the motorcycle parking was eliminated and trees removed.  Staff has 
reviewed with the applicant off-site parking options and potential financing options. 
 



Barrett confirmed that the parking spaces were being reduced from 33 to 14 in the second variance request.  
Nash replied yes.   
 
Barrett stated that alternate parking options were discussed at the workshop and asked if this could be part 
of the conditions of the variance.  Nash said that it is a possibility, but is dependent on whether or not the 
proposed ordinance is approved. 
 
Nash continued saying that this is a complicated process and the Board could table it until the next meeting, 
but that would limit the opportunities for the Council to review it before the 120 days would be used.  She 
reminded the Board that per State statute, there is a time frame in which land use applications need to be 
decided.  However, the applicant can extend the time frame through a written document. 
 
Kuitunen said that the Board has worked very hard on this and it would be difficult to make a decision right 
now as there are too many variables without the approval of the proposed ordinance. 
 
Nash asked the Board if they would be willing to have a special meeting during the first half of January in 
order for the variances and site plan to go to Council by their January 18, 2022, meeting.  Members stated 
yes. 
 
Zajicek asked if there would be additional fees associated with an extension of the time frame.  Nash replied 
no. 
 
The Board decided that January 10, 2022, a special meeting would be held. 
 
Zajicek said that Tappe had received a quote for paving the existing lot that was high and wondered if there 
were other options for the lot.  Preisler said that with the addition of the curb and gutter and the change in 
grade, the stormwater sewer is needed.  It is possible for their engineer to look into options, but their 
engineer was the one that made the engineering decision that this was the best option.  He continued saying 
that it is also necessary to ensure that stormwater does not negatively impact neighboring lots. 
 
Preisler reminded the Board that a durable, dustless surface is needed.  As this parking area is going to be 
used continuously and there are going to be sharp turns happening, other options may not meet the durability 
factor. 
 
Zajicek asked about the cost of millings versus asphalt.  Preisler said that the millings would be less 
expensive than asphalt, but that the durability may come into question as striping may not hold.  Also, there 
is maintenance involved with millings. 
 
Kuitunen asked if the number of existing parking spaces downtown could be provided at the special meeting 
in January.  Nash and Preisler said they would provide this information. 
 
MOTION by Kuitunen to table the variances and site plan for the River Inn until the January 10, 2022, 
Special Planning Commission Meeting, seconded by Schendel. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
New Business 
 Concept Plan for The Overlook & The Highlands at Crow River 
 
Nash introduced the concept plan being presented by Homestead Partners for the property along Beebe 
Lake Road, the Anderson farm, at 10701 Beebe Lake Road.  It will be 70 units of newly constructed 
housing.  The streets of 4th, 6th, and Kalland Lane would be used as stubs into the property and the temporary 
cul de sacs would be terminated.  There would be a separate entrance off of Beebe Lake Road to the 
townhomes.  The triangular shaped property to the north of the Anderson property is a separate property 



and is not being considered as part of the concept plan.  The property for the proposed development is 
located in the Shoreland area and has a natural environment lake as classified by the Minnesota Department 
of Natural Resources (MN DNR).  This proposal would need to be reviewed by the MN DNR. 
 
Nash directed the Board’s attention to the memo included in the packet and pointed out several items: 

• The 2040 Comprehensive Plan guides this property as Neighborhood Residential and it would need 
to be re-guided and rezoned to R2, Multi-Family Residential. 

• Sidewalks are a subdivision requirement and while Crow River Heights East predates this there 
may not be sidewalks on some of the streets. 

• The 2040 Comprehensive Plan does show a connector roadway from the east end of 4th Street to 
Beebe Lake Road. 

• A trail is identified in the 2040 Comprehensive Plan on this site, but due to the wetlands, a 
boardwalk would be needed.  The development of a trail may be expensive to construct. 

Nash said that the memos from her and Preisler were mostly comments for the future applications on what 
would be needed such as grading contours, utility layouts, access to the county road, tree preservation plans, 
verification of the Ordinary High Water Level (OHWL), and the determination if an Environmental 
Assessment Worksheet (EAW). 

Kuitunen asked about Nash’s comment related to a road being stubbed to the Schirmer’s property (the 
triangular property north of the Anderson property).  Nash said that it needs to be either stubbed or dedicated 
as right of way so that it can be used in the future for a road.  The Schirmer property would not be able to 
have access from Beebe Lake Road. 

Kuitunen has concerns with connecting 4th Street to Beebe Lake Road and the possibility of it becoming a 
traffic and safety issue.  Preisler said that it is identified as a future connector and that often future 
connectors line up with other city’s connector streets.  Schendel said that from an emergency response 
perspective, the connection could be beneficial. 

Barrett asked about the two street connections in the southwest corner where Kalland Lane connects to 4th 
Street. 

Ralph Murphy, Homestead Partners, explained that during discussions with staff, they were told the 
temporary cul de sacs needed to removed.  There is also a 24-foot-deep ravine in that area.  To make a 
connector street, fill would need to be brought in to fill the ravine and trees would need to be cut down. 

Bob Neuberger, 10486 Kalland Lane NE, stated he understands about the ravine.  He also commented that 
the ravine does fill with water. 

Nash spoke to the temporary cul de sacs saying that they were not meant to be permanent and that they are 
located on people’s properties. 

A 4th Street NE resident asked why did they want to develop this site and why were townhomes being 
chosen as part of the development. 

Jeff Schoenwetter, Homestead Partners, restated that they are following the direction of staff to remove the 
temporary cul de sacs.  He continued saying that they are here tonight to listen and learn from the Board 
and residents.  They prefer the proposed streets ending in cul de sacs so that the natural environment can 
be part of the development.  The ravine and trees also make a great buffer between the different types of 
housing.  Schoenwetter reiterated that they want to incorporate feedback into their design. 

Preisler confirmed that the temporary cul de sacs needed to be removed.  He stated that the proposed streets 
and connections were one option, but that another option would be to extend the street into the developer’s 
property and create a permanent cul de sac.  Nash added a third option would to make the temporary cul de 
sacs permanent by having discussions with the property owners. 



Zajicek asked if the access could be connected to Beebe Lake Road by using a different street than 4th 
Street.  He continued saying that perhaps taking a few lots away in order to make the connection would be 
an option. 

Preisler said that part of the design of the future connector street was to give Crow River Heights East 
residents another access to Beebe Lake Road.  Without specific numbers, he couldn’t be sure if it would 
relieve traffic from Kayla or is even needed. 

Schoenwetter said that extending the street would give the developer different traffic counts than what has 
been estimated by the proposed concept plan. 

Schoenwetter continued asking for specific feedback related to the multi-family housing as it is inconsistent 
with the guidelines, but that it is a needed housing type.  He said that there is an independent component 
with having a cul de sac, and if it was switched to a connector street, they would need to consider whether 
the multi-family style of housing was viable. 

Barrett requested more information related to the style of multi-family townhomes.  Chuck Ryan, 
Homestead Partners, said that the townhomes would be two-story with a lookout.  There is a large base of 
customers that want an association-maintained community and don’t want an entry-level type of townhome. 

Schoenwetter said the townhomes would be upscale homes with a south view and a lot of green space, 
including a trail system. 

Barrett explained that there is a current development that is constructing one-level patio homes and that 
was a big change for Hanover.  She asked if they would be willing to make the homes detached with an 
HOA. 

Schoenwetter said they could look at the option of a non-common wall if directed to do so.  He said that 
they have similar homes in Kenwood Hills, Lakeville, and Redtail Ridge in Savage.  The homes in Savage 
are on a 40-foot-wide lot with ten feet between homes. 

Kuitunen said that the villas have a 7.5-foot side yard setback.  He continued asking if the proposed single-
family homes meet the current ordinance requirements.  Murphy replied yes. 

Kuitunen asked for the square footage of the townhome units or blocks.  Ryan said that a block would be 
8,000 square feet and each block has five (5) units. 

Zajicek wondered if connecting 20 more homes to 6th Street would be possible.  Kevin Vikingson, 10486 
6th Street, said that people purchase homes on 6th Street because it is quiet and is concerned about the safety 
of the children if the street becomes a collector. 

Zajicek explained that there has been push back with multi-family housing in the past and it would have to 
be the right type to be accepted.  He requested more specific plans on what was being considered.  He also 
asked if they had approached the Schirmers to purchase their property.  Schoenwetter said they had 
approached them and are instead selling four lots next to the Schirmer property.  The lots are heavily treed. 

Zajicek asked if a different connection to Beebe Lake Road, such as Kalland Lane, would be an option.  
Preisler responded by saying he did not think it would be supported as it would not meet the distance 
requirement by the county between entrances.  A traffic study would be able tell exactly. 

Neuberger asked how much time would be saved by emergency responders if the streets were not 
connected.  Schendel couldn’t say for sure, but that every second does count.  It would take more than 15 
seconds.  Schendel restated that the temporary cul de sacs were meant to grant access to the east. 

Lisa Flatten, 10533 Beebe Lake Road, asked whether or not there would be sidewalks along the townhomes.  
Preisler said that yes, there would be sidewalks, and that sidewalks are rarely shown on a concept plan.  It 
was also included in his comments to ensure they would be on future documents. 



Jeremy Flatten, 10533 Beebe Lake Road, said that he has an easement on the current driveway to access 
his house.  He also wondered if he would be required to connect to water and sewer since he has a well and 
septic.  Preisler said that he would not have to connect to water and sewer. 

Neuberger asked how many phases were planned for this development.  Schoenwetter responded that they 
would build everything in one phase. 

Barrett asked how the proposed trail would be maintained and who would perform the maintenance.  Nash 
replied that it would more than likely be the City that would maintain it as it would be a public trail.  Barrett 
continued asking who was responsible for constructing the trail.  Nash said that would be part of the 
discussion and that the school district needs to be part of the discussion as well.  Preisler added that there 
are portions of the trail that would need to be a boardwalk.   Future replacement costs of the boardwalk 
would be high as well as the maintenance of it.  Nash said that part of the maintenance discussion would 
be whether or not the boardwalk would be plowed as that can sometime damage the boardwalk.  It also 
needs to be discussed if this is a viable place for a trail. 

Barret commented that there is not really a park close by to the proposed development.  Nash said that there 
is not a park in this area and would suggest the logical playground would be a Cardinal Circle Park.  She 
continued saying that a private facility might make more sense, but it would depend on the demographics 
of the townhomes. 

Schoenwetter said that the multi-family homes would be a mix of two-stories and ramblers.  Kuitunen asked 
what would be the estimated price of the townhomes.  Schoenwetter said about $400,000 with a $100,000 
worth of possible options. 

Kuitunen said that multi-family housing may be accepted if the street does not connect.  He said the price 
of the homes seems expensive. 

Schoenwetter asked for direction related to the connector road, saying if the connector road is the desired 
option than there would be less trees in the development and more traffic; or is the option presented without 
the connection and more trees and green space more desirable. 

Kuitunen asked what their investment would look like if it was only single-family homes.  Schoenwetter 
said they haven’t explored that option.  It would challenge the developer to lose the density of the multi-
family homes. 

Kuitunen asked if the property needed a lot of grading.  Schoenwetter said that there would be limited 
grading if following the contours.  Murphy said that they plan to bring water and sewer from the lift station 
area and go in through the rear yards instead of coming in from 6th Street and requiring fill. 

Kuitunen said he is willing to change the zoning of the property.  Schendel said that this is a difficult site 
and it looks as good as it can be.  Kuitunen agreed, but said he needed more information. 

Christenson asked if there were existing home on the site.  Schoenwetter said that the Anderson family does 
live on the property. 

Schoenwetter said that this would be a trophy neighborhood for many years.  They haven’t looked into the 
villa concept, but would be willing to do so.  He said that Murphy lives in one of their two-story townhomes 
and Ryan lives in a rambler/villa.  Schoenwetter continued saying he doesn’t think that this site is a stretch 
for the $500,000 market.  It is a lifestyle choice with a private neighborhood which is sought after. 

Murphy asked if they look at other options for housing, would the connector street need to go through.  
Zajicek wondered if the connector street would need to be done at all.  Preisler said that to answer those 
questions, a traffic study would need to be completed as he does not have the data.  Capstone in St. Michael 
had done a study of all of the intersections along Beebe Lake Road and maybe some of that information 
could be accessed.  Preisler said he is not aware of any complaints about access from Kayla Lane and Kadler 



Avenue on to Beebe Lake Road.  That said, that information is not really concrete information like that 
gained from a traffic study. 

Nash indicated that it is anticipated that Kayla Lane will be extended north of Beebe Lake Road with other 
possible extensions. 

Preisler said that an EAW would trigger a traffic study.  Nash said that as presented, it doesn’t appear that 
the proposed plan would require an EAW. 

Schoenwetter said that if Planning Commission is willing, they would like to bring back additional 
information based on tonight’s discussion to the meeting in January.  Board members agreed this would be 
a good idea. 

Schoenwetter thanked the Board and residents for their time and feedback. 

The majority of the guest left the meeting. 

 

Reports and Announcements 
 Christenson asked if the flags advertising Rivers Edge met the sign ordinance requirements.  Nash 
said that she would look into it. 
 Barrett mentioned that some of the holiday lights were not lit. 
 Zajicek thanked Christenson for his service on the Planning Commission and that it was 
appreciated. 
 Kuitunen also added his thanks to Christenson. 
 Kolasa wished everyone a Merry Christmas and Happy New Year. 
 Biren asked the Board what date would they like to meet in December 2022 as the regularly 
scheduled meeting falls on the observed holiday.  It was decided that December 21, 2022, would be the 
meeting date. 
 Nash said that January’s meeting was going to have several items on it including a conditional use 
permit for an accessory building and a preliminary plat for the rest of Crow River Heights West additions.  
She explained that preliminary plats only exist for a period of time and that the property was being 
purchased from Backes Development.  She also mentioned that the EAW will be expiring in June 2022. 
 
 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Christenson to adjourn, seconded by Kuitunen.   
Motion carried unanimously.  
Meeting adjourned at 9:09 pm. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
      
Amy L. Biren 
Administrative Assistant 

 
 
 
 
 


